





# Tanzania motorcycle taxi rider training: assessment and development of appropriate training curriculum

Final report

**Transaid** 

Authors: Caroline Barber and Neil Rettie



AFCAP Project Reference Number: TAN2015E

May 2015



Cover Photo: Photograph of the participants at a stakeholder workshop in Bagamoyo, Tanzania, February 2015

**Transaid** 

137 Euston Road London NW1 2AA, UK Tel: +44 20 7387 8136 www.transaid.org

The views in this document are those of the authors and they do not necessarily reflect the views of the Africa Community Access Partnership (AFCAP) or Cardno Emerging Markets (UK) Ltd for whom the document was prepared

Quality assurance and review table							
Version	Author(s)	Reviewer(s)	Date 7/4/15				
1	Transaid team	Annabel Bradbury					
		Paul Starkey	8/4/15				
2	Transaid team	Annabel Bradbury	5/5/15				
		Paul Starkey	8/5/15				

AFCAP/ASCAP Project Management Unit Cardno Emerging Market (UK) Ltd Oxford House, Oxford Road Thame OX9 2AH United Kingdom



#### **Abstract**

Between December 2014 and April 2015, Transaid, working closely with key stakeholders in Tanzania, have developed an appropriate training curriculum for motorcycle taxi riders (for the full curriculum see annex A). Of the 1.25 million people killed on the roads annually and the 20-50 million people who are injured and/or suffer long term disability, 90% of these occur in low and middle income countries<sup>1</sup>. In recent years, motorcycle taxis, or "boda bodas", have emerged rapidly as an important means of transport in both urban and rural settings particularly in East Africa. They provide an important means of access to essential services for local communities in hard to reach areas. However there are also legitimate safety concerns and improving boda boda training, licensing and testing has the potential to reduce death and injury.

This AFCAP-funded programme began by gathering and assessing any existing motorcycle training curricula to identify any gaps that need to be addressed. It was vital that the development of the training curriculum had strong support from the relevant training schools and regulatory authorities as well as feeding in valuable input from the motorcycle taxi riders themselves and addressing the needs of passengers. To ensure this key stakeholder input and support, SUMATRA and the Traffic Police were engaged from the very start and the project team conducted interviews with Driving Schools and regulatory authorities. Two stakeholder workshops were facilitated; one in Bagamoyo, which took a innovative participatory approach, gathering input from boda boda riders, owners and passengers The second workshop took place in Dar es Salaam and focused on gaining feedback and input from the key regulatory authorities and ministries. This final report details the outcomes from these activities as well as presenting the final developed curriculum, proposed next steps and proposals for licensing, testing and training.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Global Status Report on Road Safety 2015 (WHO)

**Key Words**: Boda Boda, Motorcycle Taxi, Rural Transport, Tanzania, Training, Curriculum, Assessment, Transaid, Safety

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the wide range of stakeholders who have supported this research. It has been a truly collaborative effort. Particular thanks go to SUMATRA (especially Director General Gilliard Ngewe) and the Traffic Police (especially Senior Assistant Commissioner of Police J. Kahatano) and the boda boda associations and driving schools from across Tanzania all who gave up their valuable time to support attempts to reduce death and injury on the roads in Tanzania. Thanks also go to:

- Amend
- Amkeni VTC-Kibamba
- Bago Power Boda Boda Association
- CHASHUBUTA (TAPDSA)
- DKS DS
- Dodoma DS
- HelpAge International
- HUA-Kimara
- International Forum for Rural Transport and Development (IFRTD)
- Jibabo Ukonga Boda Boda
- Kiwangwa Boda Boda Association
- Kosovo Boda Boda Association
- Mabibo Get Well DS
- Mbeya Boda Boda Association
- Ministry of Transport
- Ministry of Works
- Ministry of Works & Transport, Transport Licensing Board, Uganda

## **AFRICA COMMUNITY ACCESS PARTNERSHIP (AFCAP)**

Providing solutions for safe and sustainable rural access across Africa

AFCAP is a research programme, funded by UK Aid, with the aim of promoting safe and sustainable rural access for all people in Africa. AFCAP supports knowledge sharing between participating countries in order to enhance the uptake of low cost, proven solutions for rural access that maximise the use of local resources. The AFCAP programme is managed by Cardno Emerging Markets (UK) Ltd.

See www.afcap.org

- Mrs Eugen Mwaiposa, Member of Parliament for Ukonga
- Msinune Boda Boda Association
- Mwanza UWP (boda boda association)
- National Institute of Transport
- Songea Boda Boda Association
- SUMATRA Consumer Consultative Council
- Tanzania Bureau of Standards
- Tanzania Forum Group for Improved Rural Accessibility and Mobility
- Tarawanda Boda Boda Group
- Transport Research Laboratory (TRL)
- Trade Transit Facilitation Agency (TTFA) Dar Corridor
- Ukonga Boda boda Association
- VETA Dar es Salaam
- VETA Kihonda
- Yombo Boda Boda Association

We are also grateful to AFCAP and DFID whose funding has made this research possible.

#### **Acronyms, Units and Currencies**

\$ s Dollar (US\$  $1.00 \approx 1,840$  Tanzania Shilling as per xe.com 27.03.2015)

AALOCOM Association for Advancing Low Cost Mobility

AAT Automobile Association of Tanzania AFCAP Africa Community Access Partnership

ART Antiretroviral Therapy

CCC Consumers Consultative Commission
CBTE Competency Based Training Education

CCTTFA Central Corridor Transit Transport Facilitation Agency

CHASHUBUTA Chama cha Shule Binafsi za Udereva Tanzania (Tanzania Private Driving

Schools' Association)

DS Driving School

DFID Department for International Development

EAC East Africa Community

FWVI Future World Vocational Institute

HGV Heavy Goods Vehicle

IFRTD International Forum for Rural Transport and Development

IRAT Improving Rural Access in Tanzania

ITCIndustrial Training CentreNGONon-Governmental OrganisationNITNational Institute of Transport

PDTP Professional Driver Training Programme

PLHA People Living with HIV/AIDS

PMO-RALG Prime Minister's Office – Regional Administration and Local Government

PSV Passenger Service Vehicle

RTSA Road Transport & Safety Agency – Zambia SSATP Sub Saharan Africa Transport Policy

SUMATRA Surface and Marine Transport Regulatory Authority – Tanzania

Tanzania Private Driving Schools' Association (also known as

TAPDSA CHASUBUTA)

TMEA Trade Mark East Africa
ToT Training of Trainers

TRL Transport Research Laboratory

UK United Kingdom (of Great Britain and Northern Ireland)

UKAid United Kingdom Aid (Department for International Development, UK)
UWAPITE Umoja Waendesha Pikipiki Temeke (Union of motorcycle drivers in

Temeke District, Tanzania

VETA Vocational Education Training Authority, Dar es Salaam

## Contents

	Abstract	3				
	Acknowledgements	4				
	Acronyms, Units and Currencies	6				
1	Executive summary	8				
2	Background	10				
3	Research objective	12				
4	AFCAP2 log frame and key milestones	12				
5	Methodology	13				
6	Review of key documents and Stakeholder engagement	13				
	6.1 Reviewing Existing Curricula and Material and Stakeholder Interviews	13				
	6.2 Engagement with Key Stakeholders	17				
	6.2.1 Bagamoyo Workshop	17				
	6.2.2 Workshop in Dar es Salaam	19				
7	Key Findings from Stakeholder Engagement	20				
8	Proposals for Training, Testing and Licensing	22				
	8.1 Proposals for Training	22				
	8.2 Proposals for Testing	24				
	8.3 Proposals for licensing	25				
9	Potential follow on Activities	25				
10	0 Conclusion	26				
1	1 References	26				
ANNEX A: CURRICULUM FOR TRAINING MOTORCYCLE AND TRICYCLE						
R	RIDERS	27				

#### 1 Executive summary

Motorcycle taxis, known in many parts of East Africa as 'boda boda' have emerged as a key feature of rural and urban transport services. They play an important role in allowing men, women and children to access vital services such as healthcare, markets and education. There are increasing road safety concerns about the rise of boda boda in Tanzania and increasing efforts by the Government of Tanzania to start regulating them. With a growing focus on boda boda regulation and pressure from the highest levels in government, SUMATRA has been tasked with 'solving the boda boda problem'. There is a risk that over-regulation could have a negative impact on the important service that boda boda provide to people living in rural Tanzania. However, a level of regulation, support to boda boda associations, efforts to professionalise and provide quality training for boda boda riders and owners have considerable potential for positive change. In addition, an improved service for boda boda users (including vulnerable groups) and a review of the processes for testing and licence acquisition can also have a significant impact.

Within this context Transaid was contracted to undertake an applied research project to review the current training available for motorcycle riders in Tanzania, work closely with key stakeholders and make recommendations for adequate training programmes, with particular consideration to boda boda riders.

The research started in December 2014 and began by gathering and assessing existing curricula and materials. It was found that the majority of driver training schools contacted do not offer any motorcycle training. Of those that do, the majority only offer classroom-based theory training and do not offer practical training or any training specific to carrying passengers. The team contacted a total of 40 training schools, many of which are members of the Tanzania Private Driving Schools' Association (TAPDSA) or, in Swahili, Chama cha Shule Binafsi za Udereva Tanzania (CHASHUBUTA). The team found that less than half of them conduct motorcycle training and only eight agreed to share their material. Even the schools offering training only offer this as bespoke training usually on behalf of private companies as opposed to

regular training offered to the public. The team also found that most driving schools are located in major urban centres. With lack of enforcement ability in rural areas, there is little perceived demand for training and licensing, meaning that riders have to travel for many miles to urban centres to receive training which is often undesirable as it means missing valuable days of work.

Throughout the process of developing the training curriculum, Transaid worked closely with SUMATRA, the Traffic Police, boda boda associations, boda boda riders, users, owners and training schools, as well as the road safety NGO Amend and HelpAge International. Transaid also consulted the International Forum for Rural Transport and Development (IFRTD) and the Transport Research Laboratory (TRL) for feedback on the draft curriculum. Such high levels of stakeholder input aims to enable local ownership and allow the training curriculum to be implemented effectively on a national scale.

This high level of stakeholder engagement was enabled through initial interviews and two workshops; one in a more rural district, Bagamoyo, which focused on gathering input from boda boda riders, owners and passengers for the curriculum and one in Dar es Salaam that focused on gaining feedback and input from the key regulatory authorities and ministries. The approach of consulting widely with riders, motorcycle owners, passengers and considering the needs of vulnerable groups was quite an innovative approach within the sector. The developed curriculum presented in this report addresses gaps in the existing training curricula as well as including valuable input from a range of stakeholders. This curriculum aims to address the specific needs of passengers, taking into account the needs of women, older people and vulnerable users. It also addresses the requirements of boda boda riders and owners to ensure that they are motivated to undertake the training and find it as useful as possible. Finally and importantly, it aims to meet the requirements of the regulatory authorities, which should ensure their support and mean that this curriculum is integrated into national policy, becoming national standard, and therefore help to improve driving standards and decrease the number of motorcycle road deaths in Tanzania. A number of

important follow up activities around the production of training materials and capacity building of trainers are also proposed.

#### 2 Background

Boda boda often operate where more conventional services are uneconomic or physically impossible. They are found in urban and rural areas and often act as feeder services to towns or major public transport routes. They are becoming increasingly available across East Africa, due to their convenience and their ability to meet demands that other services cannot, particularly door-to-door travel.

Boda boda transport services were originally a Ugandan innovation that grew from small beginnings in the 1960s in the border region with Kenya (Malmberg-Calvo, 1994). The term itself is a corruption of the English 'border border'. Boda boda mainly provide a passenger taxi service, although they can sometimes be hired to move goods (Howe, 2002).

There were reported to be a total of 10,036 registered boda boda in Tanzania as of May 2013. In Dar es Salaam alone, there were at least 4,432 (Mugarula, 2014). The actual figure is likely to be much higher. A recent Amend study found that over 70% of all injuries suffered on rural roads [in Tanzania] involve a motorcycle and that boda boda riders have a 69% chance of being injured in any given year. This points to the potential transformational effect that road safety interventions that target boda boda riders can have.

It has proven difficult for the government to regulate the boda boda industry and a number of informal associations have developed in the region. In rural areas of Tanzania many associations are based around friendship groups, according to previous AFCAP-funded research delivered by Transaid. SUMATRA is considering making it mandatory for boda boda riders/operators to join associations and undergo training.

In November 2014 Transaid met with the SUMATRA Director General, who, with his prior knowledge of the work that Transaid has done in development of Passenger Service Vehicle (PSV) and Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) driver

training in Tanzania, was keen to have Transaid support the development of training for boda boda riders. Specifically he wished for support in developing a training curriculum and also the Training of Trainers; in order to provide capacity to train all boda boda riders in the country.

There was clearly strong local support for building training capacity for boda boda riders in Tanzania. Once established, a curriculum to support professional training and certification of boda boda riders is expected to help reduce the number of deaths and injuries amongst the boda boda community and passengers/vulnerable road users. It is also hoped that this approach, which focused on engaging boda boda riders and a range of user needs, will help to ensure an improved service particularly for vulnerable groups. By bringing the boda boda riders and public authorities together, win-win positions can be negotiated..

The idea of public authorities working more closely with boda boda associations and providing training and support came out of AFCAP-funded transport operator associations' research that was conducted in late 2013. As part of this research a number of transport associations shared their views on the current challenges they were facing and where they felt there was a need for further research/investment. This project aims to build on momentum generated by previous transport services projects in Tanzania.

Transaid has been working with the National Institute of Transport in Tanzania since 2010 to train bus and truck driver trainers and at the same time to work with key stakeholders to facilitate the development of national training standards and recommendations for new testing standards. This has been successful for the passenger transport sector with a new curriculum in place for Passenger Service Vehicles (PSV) and is well underway for freight transport with a draft curriculum developed. In January 2015 Trade Mark East Africa (TMEA) contracted Transaid to conduct a review of existing PSV and Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) training curricula, instructor manuals and other training materials across the five partner states of the East Africa Community for position as adoption of a new EAC regional standard. These developments are extremely positive and have only been possible due to the

support of SUMATRA, the Traffic Police, the private sector transporters and associations. However, the quality of motorcycle training offered in the country remains limited despite the sharp increase in motorcyclist deaths in Tanzania over the last few years. This project has brought the regulators, training schools and boda boda associations together to develop recommendations for national standards in an attempt to improve motorcycle rider training standards throughout Tanzania and, potentially, the entire East African region.

#### 3 Research objective

The research objective of this project was to gather, review and assess any existing training curricula and material for motorcycle and motorcycle taxi riders. Through the assessment of this material, gaps could be identified and bridged through the development of a new training curriculum. The research also aims to gather the input and feedback from key stakeholders such as driving schools, boda boda riders, owners and passengers and regulatory authorities in order to develop an effective and well-supported training curriculum.

This report addressed the development of a driver training curriculum only. Out of scope of this assignment was the development of training materials; however this and capacity building for trainers in Tanzania are seen as the critical next steps and are referred to in more detail in Sections 8 and 9.

## 4 AFCAP2 log frame and key milestones

This applied research will actively build the capacity of government departments, transport associations, training institutions, NGOs and other stakeholders and improve government response to a very topical issue, looking to achieve national policy change around training.

This work is linked to AFCAP impact indicator 2; 'National policies and regulations for rural transport services modified or introduced as a result of AFCAP and ASCAP research (including road safety and gender)' and also

Impact indictor 3 – co-funding from Partner Government departments such as SUMATRA and other donors (such as DFID through Trade Mark East Africa and the East Africa Community and the World Bank through the Trade Facilitation efforts in the region).

### 5 Methodology

The following approach was employed:

- a. Review existing motorcycle rider training material, including anything specific to boda boda
- b. Based on any identified gaps, work to address these through developing curriculum content and engage regularly with key stakeholders as part of this process. Our team included motorcycle training experience from Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia and the UK in order to seek the development of an output which could be well placed for regional adoption.
- c. The first of two workshops then sought the views of the boda boda associations/riders in Bagamoyo where there is a high density of boda boda riders.
- d. The draft curriculum then underwent internal review by a small panel of carefully selected stakeholders and road safety experts from within and outside Tanzania
- e. The draft final curriculum was presented for feedback at a wider stakeholder forum (workshop two) in Dar es Salaam
- f. The curriculum was consolidated, incorporating feedback from all the stakeholders
- g. Production of final report

The next sections explore these activities in more detail.

## 6 Review of key documents and Stakeholder engagement

## 6.1 Reviewing Existing Curricula and Material and Stakeholder Interviews

The team reviewed relevant curricula and training material sourced through the initial phase of interviewing at the various driving schools that conduct motorcycle rider training. Questionnaires were developed for training providers and for the regulating authority SUMATRA and the traffic police. The team interviewed a total of 40 training institutions.

Below is a map of the locations of all the training institutions interviewed. Please note that all of the driving schools are located in urban locations. With lack of enforcement ability in rural areas there is perceived to be little demand for training and licensing. This could potentially discourage rural boda boda riders from undergoing training as they would have to travel considerable distances to do so and lose out on valuable days of work.



Figure 1: Map of locations of contacted Training Institutions

The review of the existing curricula and training material indicated that there was very little material available. Only two institutions had developed curricula and the remaining used generic materials used for car driver training or training materials developed by NIT. There was no common standard and a significant variance from institution to institution. With input from curricula and training materials from other countries, as well as input from key stakeholders, good practice was identified from the existing material and incorporated in the draft new National Curriculum. This was then validated during workshops in late February and March 2015. A comparison of the two major training curricula in use in Tanzania can be found in Table 2.

Table 2: A comparison of the two major training curricula in use in Tanzania

Curriculum content	NIT		VETA	
Curriculum content	Coverage	Relevance	Coverage	Relevance
Riding Philosophy	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Road Signs, Signals & Markings	Detailed	Full	Limited	Full
The Road Traffic Act	Detailed	Full	Limited	Full
Defensive riding	Detailed	Full	Not covered	Not covered
Basic Mechanical Principles	Detailed	Partial	Detailed	Partial
Fitness to Drive	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Managing Crashes & Breakdowns	Detailed	Full	Limited	Full
HIV/AIDS Awareness	Detailed	Full	Not covered	Not covered
Practical Basic First Aid	Detailed	Full	Not covered	Not covered
Customer Care	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Driver's Daily Walk Round Check	Detailed	Full	Limited	Full
Starting the engine	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Moving off	Detailed	Partial	Very Limited	Full
Stopping and Parking	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Monitor and respond to information from instrumentation, driving aids and the environment	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Operate the Major Controls effectively	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Negotiate the Road correctly	Detailed	Partial	Very Limited	Full
Maintain an appropriate position on the road	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Negotiate bends safely	Detailed	Partial	Very Limited	Full
Negotiate all types of junctions, including roundabouts and all types of crossings	Detailed	Partial	Very Limited	Full
Comply with signals, signs and road markings	Detailed	Full	Limited	Full
Communicate intentions to other road users	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Cooperate with other road users	Detailed	Full	Very Limited	Full
Identify and respond to hazards	Detailed	Full	Not covered	Not covered
Drive Defensively	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Follow the principles of ecologically responsible driving (Eco-safe)	Detailed	Partial	Not covered	Not covered
Operating cost of a motorcycle	Not covered	Not covered	Limited	Full

Notes: While the NIT curriculum is more comprehensive in content and is knowledge based, the VETA curriculum is less comprehensive but is competency based. As practical skills are vital in safe riding of motorcycles, a competency based curriculum is considered more appropriate.

#### 6.2 Engagement with Key Stakeholders

The team engaged and consulted with the following organisations:

- Amend
- Boda boda associations from across Tanzania
- Driving schools from across Tanzania
- HelpAge International
- International Forum for Rural Transport and Development (IFRTD)
- Ministry of Works, Department of Safety and the Environment
- Surface and Marine Transport Regulatory Authority (SUMATRA)
- Tanzania Bureau of Standards (TBS)
- Tanzania Forum Group for Improved Rural Accessibility and Mobility
- Trade Transit Facilitation Agency (TTFA) Dar Corridor
- Traffic Division of the Tanzania Police
- Transport Research Laboratory (TRL)

The team also engaged with PMO-RALG (Prime Minister's Office - Regional Administration and Local Government) and it's Road Research Centre as well as Improving Rural Access in Tanzania (IRAT) and other organisations concerned with rural access (roads and services). The team also consulted with the Transport Licensing Board in Uganda who is also reviewing current policy around regulation of boda bodas.

#### 6.2.1 Bagamoyo Workshop

A workshop in Bagamoyo was arranged for Saturday, 28<sup>th</sup> February 2015. This workshop aimed to gather opinions and input from boda boda riders, owners and passengers from more rural areas of Tanzania to contribute towards developing the training curriculum for Motorcycle Taxi riders in Tanzania.

#### Findings and Conclusions from the Bagamoyo Workshop:

Participants proposed that the following items be included in the training curriculum:

- 1. Safety equipment such as boots, first aid box, gloves, jackets, glasses and helmets
- 2. Motorcycle riding education
- 3. Identification of different demographics of passengers (ages, gender etc.)
- 4. Correct and safe riding speed
- 5. Frequent motorcycle servicing
- 6. Appropriate condition for a motorcycle rider (age, disabilities, health, hygiene, under the influence of drink/drugs)
- 7. Right time to start riding on the road after training (experiences)
- 8. Owner's responsibility in assessing if the rider holds a licence and has attended training and has the safety equipment
- 9. Earlier mechanic skills for motorcycle maintenance
- 10. Motorcycle pre-check
- 11. Customer care
- 12. Good relationship (cooperation) between motorcycle riders, passengers and traffic police
- 13. Passenger dress code when riding on a motorcycle
- 14. Health Education (HIV)
- 15. Safe driving techniques on roads without road markings and rough roads especially during rainy season and dry season which is associated with dust
- 16. Record management (income and expenditure)
- 17. Contract knowledge
- 18. Safe techniques on carrying luggage and passengers

These valuable points have been taken into consideration as part of the curriculum development, as far as has been appropriate and possible.

Figure 2: Map of boda boda associations who took part in the workshop in Bagamoyo



#### 6.2.2 Workshop in Dar es Salaam

This workshop took place on 19<sup>th</sup> March 2015 and was organised by Transaid and SUMATRA for the purpose of gathering input and feedback on the draft curriculum from key regulatory stakeholders, such as representatives from SUMATRA, Traffic Police, Ministry of Works, Ministry of Transport and Tanzania Bureau of Standards.

#### 7 Key Findings from Stakeholder Engagement

The initial stage of contacting and interviewing driving schools showed that the majority of driver training schools are based in urban locations and do not offer any motorcycle training. Of those that do, the majority only offer classroom-based theory training and do not offer practical training or any training specific to carrying passengers. The team contacted a total of 40 training schools, many of which are members of the Tanzania Private Driving Schools' Association (TAPDSA) or, in Swahili, Chama cha Shule Binafsi za Udereva Tanzania (CHASHUBUTA). The team found that less than half of them conduct motorcycle training and only eight agreed to share material. There were a number of gaps in the training material and there was a heavy bias toward theory training. As such the team were required to spend time developing appropriate additional content, in close collaboration with stakeholders.

With regard to a driving/riding test, it appears that only a theory test is conducted by the driving schools and then a certificate is issued by them that will be used to get a licence through the traffic police.

A number of the training schools contacted do not conduct motorcycle training, or used to but this training has now ceased. For each of these, the researcher asked why this was the case. The following challenges were cited:

- Too few students attending the course
- Students failing to pay for the training
- Many boda boda riders do not have time to engage in the training as scheduled by the trainers
- Some training centres do not have the facilities to train motorcycle riders

Road Safety NGO Amend conducted research into the magnitude and characteristics of road traffic injury on low-volume rural roads in Kilolo District in early 2015. They interviewed a sample of 125 boda boda riders and found that only 25% of the riders

had licences. Furthermore only 4% of riders had received formal training which supports the findings of this study that training in rural areas is uncommon.

Of the training schools that do conduct motorcycle training, most of them interviewed focus on theory training and do not conduct any practical training

All of the schools contacted have been based in major urban centres. The research team were not able to find evidence of rural training schools. According to the traffic police most riders 'in the interior' do not have a licence as there is limited means for enforcement. As such many have not undergone any training, hence a lack of demand for rural schools. This supports the findings from Tanzania of AFCAP research on transport operator associations conducted in late 2013/early 2014. Of the almost 1.7 million vehicles registered in Tanzania between 1st May 2003 and 31st December 2014 55% were motorcycles or tricycles. The Police estimate that not only 70% of all registered vehicles in Tanzania are based in Dar es Salaam (with most of the remaining vehicles being in other towns), but that up to 70% of all motorcycles are used as boda bodas. In rural areas it is expected that a much higher proportion of vehicles are motorcycles and that they are ridden by unlicensed riders. While over 1.6 million vehicles are registered in Tanzania there are only one million valid licences as of January 2015. This leaves an important emerging picture of motorcycle taxi riders operating in rural areas where many may be unlicensed and where it appears enforcement may be limited. Even if motorcycle riders wish to attend formal training and undertake formal licence acquisition they would likely have to travel to urban or peri-urban areas which may be prohibitively expensive.

The needs of passengers with limited mobility, such as the elderly, expectant mothers and those with short term illnesses and long term disabilities have been addressed particularly in the Customer Care module of the curriculum. Key to the development of this module were inputs from HelpAge International's Tanzania Country Director and Transaid consultants working on maternal health transport projects in collaboration with boda boda riders in Uganda.

To ensure that global and regional best practice were incorporated input was also sought from outside Tanzania. This input included a highly experienced trainer from Zambia working closely with the lead consultants in the curriculum development. This was also supported by a key input from Uganda through the participation in the review workshop held in Dar es Salaam of a licensing officer from their Transport Licensing Board. An international road safety expert was also part of the project team.

### 8 Proposals for Training, Testing and Licensing

#### 8.1 Proposals for Training

This AFCAP-funded applied research has seen the development of a new motorcycle curriculum for application across Tanzania. This is an important first step towards improving the quality of training delivered in Tanzania. However, there remains a significant challenge in that currently only a small proportion of training schools offer motorcycle training and most of these do not offer practical training. Even the training schools that do provide more comprehensive training do not currently run regular scheduled programmes for the public, rather they respond to ad hoc requests as they arise. The training schools are typically located in urban locations where they can anticipate higher volumes of trainees and where enforcement around licensing and testing is more active. Despite the existence of this new curriculum there is still a lack of capacity around motor cycle training in general and especially motorcycle taxi training within Tanzania.

According to the deputy commander of the Traffic Police, there are no major perceived regulatory barriers to implementing the curriculum as driver training falls under the Ministry of Home Affairs and specifically the Commander of the Traffic Police. Hence they have a mandate to direct all driving schools to follow this curriculum for all new riders without the need for additional legislation. There is no separate driving licence for boda boda riders and this curriculum is broad enough to encompass both. The only module specific to boda boda riders is the important

customer care module. Hence for licence acquisition for motorcycle riders, this curriculum is now well positioned for adoption by the Traffic Police and SUMATRA. However, for existing motorcycle rider licence holders, legislation will be required to mandate training in line with the new curriculum. Requirements for compulsory refresher training post licence acquisition would require legislation to be amended in line with what has been established for PSV and what is in the process of being established for HGV.

Another challenge is likely to be people's ability to pay for the training when it becomes a mandatory part of licence acquisition. The proposed curriculum is designed to take 55 hours allowing flexibility in the number of days and exact structure so it can be offered full time (10 days, each of approximately five hours training, plus theory and practical testing at the end of the course) or part time (20-30 days). This flexibility is likely to be very important so that people can continue to work and earn a living whilst training. The assumption is that riders will bring their own motorcycles and use their own fuel, this is likely to be acceptable for existing riders but for licence acquisition a lack of training school owned motorcycles could be a limiting factor. Training schools will need to make this investment once training is made mandatory if they do not current have adequate motorcycles. The NIT in Tanzania has a structure whereby potential students can deposit funds to an NIT account set up for this purpose. It allows people to save over time for the training and has proven popular for HGV and PSV courses. Other schools could look into similar arrangements.

Finding the balance between quality training and affordable training in rural areas is a likely to be challenge.

The following next steps are recommended:

• SUMATRA and the Traffic Police to ensure that the new curriculum is endorsed and implemented as the National Standard

- Translation into Swahili It was not possible to translate in the timeframe of this project; especially as the curriculum kept evolving with valuable stakeholder inputs
- SUMATRA/Traffic Police should sensitise driving schools and the public through workshops/roadshows to highlight the requirements for implementing this curriculum
- Develop comprehensive training material to support this curriculum to be used by all training schools/institutions to deliver effective and standardised training across Tanzania
- Copies of this curriculum plus additional materials should be made available to all driving schools/institutions
- The NIT could be engaged to deliver mini training sessions on the curriculum to groups of trainers from driving schools/institutions
- Capacity building for training schools (training of trainers), associations and those responsible for testing and licensing
- Follow up visits from SUMATRA/Traffic Police/NIT to ensure training is being delivered to the required standard
- SUMATRA could work with existing training schools to encourage the development of outreach training centres to service rural populations
- The Traffic Police have plans to enhance enforcement in rural areas and this
  may also serve as a motivation for rural boda boda riders to undergo training
  and testing.

#### 8.2 Proposals for Testing

A new motorcycle riding test should be developed that will fully assess the candidates ability to ride a motorcycle safely. The test should include off-road manoeuvring as well as on-road riding assessment. The test should focus on ensuring that the competencies established within the curriculum are reached to a sufficient standard in order for the candidate to be eligible for a driving licence of the specific motorcycle category.

Driving examiners will need to be trained in order to be able to assess the competency of riders based on the standards set forth in this curriculum. The National Institute of Transport currently train driving examiners for the Tanzania Police Force and their curriculum for the 'Vehicle Inspector and Driver Examiner' course needs to be updated for use by new examiners. Existing examiners will need to undergo a short course to update their skills to meet the new motorcycle training and testing requirements.

Candidates should only be eligible to sit the official Traffic Police riding test for licence acquisition, on presentation of the certificate awarded after successful completion of the training. This is the process followed for HGV and PSV.

#### 8.3 Proposals for licensing

A driving licence should only be issued on presentation of valid certificate of training **and** proof of passing the police riding test in the category being applied for. This is the preferred approach in Tanzania and has already been adopted for PSV and is in progress for HGV.

#### 9 Potential follow on Activities

An essential next step is the development of an instructor's manual in English and Swahili as well as the development of further training materials. These will support the implementation of the curriculum and help to ensure that training standards are consistent across the country.

To address the issue of a lack of skilled motorcycle trainers in Tanzania phase two should also consider how capacity can be built in Tanzania. This should focus on practical training of trainers for instructors from key training schools, prioritising those that serve rural locations. Boda boda associations and regulators/those responsible for testing should also be included in this training.

#### 10 Conclusion

This AFCAP-funded initiative has seen a review of existing materials and the development of an appropriate training curriculum for motorcycle taxi riders in Tanzania. The entire process has been supported by key stakeholders who include training schools and regulatory authorities, as well as feeding in valuable input from the motorcycle taxi riders themselves and addressing the needs of passengers in innovative ways. The proposals in this paper present opportunities to transform lives through a reduction in death and injury on the roads. It is sincerely hoped that the newly developed curriculum will be implemented across the country (and beyond) and that the proposals for training, testing and licensing are also realised.

#### 11 References

- Amend, 2013. Road Traffic Injury in Tanzania: Two Population-Based Studies. Fact Sheet Project AFCAP/GEN/060. Amend for Crown Agents, Sutton, UK. Available at: <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/Amend\_Fact\_Sheet-Two\_TZ\_RTI\_Studies\_2013\_v1.1.pdf">http://www.amend.org/docs/Amend\_Fact\_Sheet-Two\_TZ\_RTI\_Studies\_2013\_v1.1.pdf</a>
- Bishop, T and Jinadasa D, 2014. Road Traffic Injury on Rural Roads in Tanzania: A study to determine the causes and circumstances of motorcycle crashes on low-volume rural roads. Final report Project AFCAP/TAN/115. Amend for Crown Agents, Sutton, UK. Available at:

  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">http://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20">https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%20of%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
  <a href="https://www.amend.org/docs/AFCAP\_AMEND\_Causes%200f%20MC%20Crashes\_Final%20</a>
- Calvo Malmberg C, 1994. Case study on intermediate means of transport: bicycles and rural women in Uganda. Working Paper No. 12 SSATP. Sub-Saharan Africa Transport Policy Program (SSATP) for The World Bank and Economic Commission for Africa, Washington DC, USA. Available at: <a href="http://www.ssatp.org/sites/ssatp/files/publications/SSATP-WorkingPapers/WP12/part1.pdf">http://www.ssatp.org/sites/ssatp/files/publications/SSATP-WorkingPapers/WP12/part1.pdf</a>
- Howe J, 2002. Boda-boda: Uganda's rural and urban low-capacity transport services. Final report DfID/SLAM. Transport Research Laboratory (TRL LIMITED), Crowthorne, UK, in collaboration with The Makerere Institute of Social Research, Makerere University, Uganda for DfID, London, UK. Available at: <a href="http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/Output/5453/">http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/Output/5453/</a>
- Mugarula, F, 2014. Government moves to make boda bodas safer in Dar. News article for UrbanAfrica. Available at: <a href="http://www.urbanafrica.net/news/government-moves-make-bodabodas-safer-dar/">http://www.urbanafrica.net/news/government-moves-make-bodabodas-safer-dar/</a>
- Tanzania Traffic Police Report, December 2014
- Transaid, 2014. An investigation into the role of transport operator associations in shaping transport services in Africa's rural areas. Final report Project AFCAP/GEN/127/A. Transaid for Crown Agents, Sutton, UK. Available at:
  - http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/pdf/outputs/AfCap/AFCAP\_Transaid\_Final\_Report\_-\_Transport\_Operator\_Associations\_and\_Rural\_Access\_v5.pdf

## ANNEX A: CURRICULUM FOR TRAINING MOTORCYCLE AND TRICYCLE RIDERS

Annex A is in a separate document available on Transaid's Knowledge Centre:

 $\underline{http://www.transaid.org/knowledge-centre/assessment-and-development-of-a-motorcycle-taxi-rider-training-curriculum/}$